### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN EARL BUSH,	)
Appellant,	)
v.	)
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)
Appellee.	)

SID J. WHITE RK s GOURE

FILED

MAY 26 1983

CASE NO. 62,947

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Martin County [Criminal Division].

> MARTHA C. WARNER Attorney At Law Post Office Box 175 Stuart, Florida 33495 Phone: (305) 283-0500

Counsel for Appellant.

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, John Earl Bush, was arrested on May 4, 1982. A Grand Jury later returned an indictment against Defendant, Bush, and three other co-defendants, charging them with premeditated murder in the first degree; robbery with a firearm; and kidnapping (R 1360). The Defendants moved for a change of venue (R 1538-1539A) because of extensive pretrial publicity, and the motion was granted (R 1544-1545).

The Defendant was tried before a jury in Fort Myers, Florida on November 15, 1982. The jury returned a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree, kidnapping, and robbery with a firearm (R 1640- 1642). The court then reconvened the jury to render an advisory sentence of death or life imprisonment. At the conclusion of the proceedings, the jury recommended the death penalty (R 1630). Thereafter, the court entered his findings upon the record and sentenced the Defendant to death (R 1300-1308). In addition, the court adjudicated the Defendant guilty of armed robbery and kidnapping and entered concurrent life sentences on those charges (R 1300, 1646-1652). The Defendant entered his appeal of the convictions and sentences on December 6, 1982 (R 1659-1660).

-1-

On the evening of April 26, 1982, the Defendant, hereinafter referred to as Bush, got together with Alfonso Cave, "Pig" Parker, and Terry Wayne Johnson in Fort Pierce, Florida. After a few drinks at a local bar, they purchased a gallon of gin (R 768), drank it, and proceeded to travel in Bush's car towards Stuart. Their intention was to go to Palm Beach (R 814). They reached Martin County at approximately 11:00 p.m. and stopped briefly at the Little General store on north U. S. 1 in Stuart. Then they drove out towards Indiantown and stopped at another convenient store on State Road 76 (R 845). Bush went in and bought a bag of potato chips. For the next several hours they rode around in Stuart.

Finally, they headed back towards Fort Pierce and Bush again stopped at the Little General store on North U. S. 1, where Frances Slater worked (R 817). Bush went in to purchase a pack of cigarettes. Cave and Parker got out of the car and came up behind him as Frances Slater was coming from the back of the store. Cave then pulled a gun on her (R 819). Cave and Parker told her to open the cash register. They also made her open the floor safe to get the rest of the money (R 819). Cave pulled Slater out of the store with him and ordered Bush to pick up the money bag. Cave and Parker put her in the back seat of Bush's car and told Bush to drive away (R 819).

-2-

Bush was driving south on U. S. 1 when they told him to head towards Indiantown (R 819). When they got further down the road and saw no traffic was coming, Cave and Parker ordered Bush to stop (R 820). Slater was put out of the car and it was Bush's intention to let her go at that point (R 821). However, Cave and Parker decided that she might be able to identify them and they told Bush to get rid of her. Cave gave his knife to Bush after Bush refused to take the gun (R 822). Bush, not wanting to kill the girl, faked a blow at her with the knife and stabbed her superficially. The girl fell to the ground (R 820). Bush then turned to get back into the car when he heard a shot fired by "Pig" Parker. This was the fatal gunshot wound to the victim's head. Bush was scared. He then got back into his car and drove away (R 837).

On the following Saturday morning, after the police had seized Bush's car pursuant to a search warrant, Bush went to the Martin County Sheriff's Department to see about his car. At that point, Lloyd Jones, a black detective, questioned Bush about the Slater murder investigation. Detective Jones read Bush his rights, and asked Bush to repeat them on the tape. Bush tried to read them back, but because of his limited education, he stumbled over several phrases (R 687-688). Bush denied any involvement in the crime and stated that he was in Palm Beach at the time of the murder. The detectives questioning Bush, repeatedly and persistently referred to the fact

-3-

that "only one person pulled the trigger" and that he should think about that before denying any involvement in the crime.

The officers questioned Bush for approximately an hour and a half. Following the interrogation, Bush remained at the Martin County Sheriff's Department. Bush stayed at the Sheriff's office all day, and the detectives, particularly Charles Jones and Lloyd Jones, both black officers in the Sheriff's Department, continued to talk with Bush about the Slater murder (R 631).

At approximately 3:00 p.m. on that Saturday, Bush agreed to go with Detective Charles Jones to West Palm Beach to check out his alibi. Another deputy also went with them (R 632). They attempted to locate Bush's alibi witness, but the witness didn't show up. Since it was late, they all decided to get something to eat.

After dinner, Bush decided to make another statement to the detectives. At this point, Bush was not reread his rights, but Jones took the statement from him anyway (R 638). This statement was taken at approximately 7:35 p.m. in West Palm Beach. The last time Bush was advised of his rights was eleven (11) hours earlier, prior to his first statement at 8:40 a.m. that morning (R 742). During the second statement, taken in West Palm Beach, Bush identified Alfonso Cave, "Pig" Parker and Terry Wayne Johnson as being his three companions during the evening of the murder. Bush described his involvement in the incident but denied stabbing or shooting the girl (R 749-757).

-4-

After taking this statement in West Palm Beach, the detectives brought Bush back to the Martin County Sheriff's Department in Stuart where a third statement was taken from him at 9:20 p.m. (R 767-786) Bush had now been with the detectives for over 13 hours. Detective Charles Jones advised Bush of his Miranda rights prior to this third statement (R 763). The statement that Bush gave at the third interview was, to a large degree, confirmatory of the second statement. Bush again denied stabbing Slater (R 769). Bush admitted that he felt remorseful at Slater's death. In fact, he said, "I hate that she's dead, because I have sisters at home." (R 778)

After this third statement, Bush was placed under arrest. The next morning he was taken before a magistrate and a probable cause hearing was held.

On May 7, 1982, the Jail Administrator of the Martin County Jail "received information" that Bush wanted to talk to Sheriff John Holt (R 650). At that point, Sheriff Holt went to the jail and talked to Bush. Sheriff Holt told him that he would have to get in touch with his attorney because an attorney had been appointed to represent him (R 652). Bush was led to the telephone where he called Attorney Richard Schopp. After Bush spoke with Schopp, Sheriff Holt spoke with Schopp. Schopp told Holt that he advised Bush not to talk to the Sheriff, but Bush told him that he was going to talk anyway (R 655). After the telephone conversation with Schopp, Bush was taken to the Detective Bureau where a fourth statement was

-5-

taken from him. Bush's purpose for making the fourth statement was to make it clear that he did not shoot Slater: that he did not pull the trigger (R 812). He admitted stabbing her, but explained that he had not wanted to but he felt he had no other choice (R 812).

The victim, Frances Julia Slater, was the granddaughter of Frances Langford and Ralph Evinrude, prominent citizens of Martin County (R 31). Her parents, Richard and Sally Campbell, are in the newspaper business in Martin County, Florida (R 32). Extensive pre-trial publicity necessitated a change in venue to Lee County where a jury trial commenced November 15, 1982.

During the course of the trial, the prosecution called Charlotte Gray, a convenient store clerk at the Little General Store on State Road 76 in Stuart. She testified that shortly before closing time that evening, two black males in dirty work clothes came into her store and purchased a bag of potato chips. She testified that one looked over the register to see how much money she had in the drawer (R 484). Prior to the trial, Gray had also picked out one photo from a photo lineup but wouldn't stake her life on it. She also didn't know whether or not the man she identified was the taller or the shorter individual in her store and was unable to make a composite drawing.

At trial, Detective John Forte testified that the photo she picked out was that of Defendant Bush. This was <u>completely</u>

-6-

<u>contrary</u> to his testimony at deposition where he stated that Gray had not identified any of the defendants (SR 1-23).

The Defendant moved for a mistrial because of the substantial contradiction between Forte's deposition testimony and his trial testimony. The court denied the motion for mistrial and stated: "Whether or not there are inconsistencies between what Detective Forte said in the deposition and what he said in court here today, that is for the jury to determine. So I deny all the motions." (R 510)

Throughout the trial the prosecution used extensive photographs, both of the crime scene and of the victim. Most of the photographs of the crime scene and of the store in which the victim worked were small 3 x 5 size. However, the photos of the victim were all 16 x 20. In particular, the State admitted two photographs of the victim which were objected to by the Defendant on the grounds that their prejudicial value outweighed any relevance, one of the victim's body at the medical examiner's office and one of the gunshot wound to the head. Again, the defense objected on the grounds of prejudicial effects (R 463). The court overruled the objection (R 464). All of these large pictures of the victim were thus admitted into evidence. In fact, the court did not refuse to admit any of the photographs into evidence which the State requested.

At the conclusion of the evidence, the prosecutor put great emphasis in his closing argument on the testimony of Charlotte Gray (R 973-974) in showing that Bush and his friends

-7-

were staking out another convenient store in Stuart to rob. The prosecution also relied heavily on the 16 x 20 photographs of the victim. The photograph of the back of the victim's head was shown to the jury in closing argument to show "what happens when a live round is fired <u>by John Earl Bush</u> and smashes into the skull of Frances Julia Slater." (R 992-993) (There was <u>no</u> testimony at trial that Bush shot Slater.) The prosecution did not argue that the Defendant was guilty of premeditated murder, but the State argued at length that they had established felony murder (R 991-993).

After receiving instructions from the court, the jury deliberated and found Bush guilty of first degree murder; robbery with a firearm; and kidnapping. Court was adjourned and reconvened the following Monday morning for the penalty phase of the trial. During the penalty phase, the State put on evidence of Bush's previous conviction for rape and armed robbery. The State offered no other evidence. The Defendant then took the stand in his own behalf. After his testimony, the court instructed the jury with regard to aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The court also gave the following instructions: "when seven or more of you are in agreement as to what sentence should be recommended to the court, that form of recommendation should be signed by your foreman and returned to this court." (R 1291) After their deliberations, the jury delivered a 7-5 advisory sentence of death for Bush. Immediately thereafter, the court announced that it was ready to

-8-

sentence the Defendant. The court enumerated the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and found that three of the four aggravating circumstances had been established, but none of the mitigating circumstances were established. As a result of his findings, the court sentenced Bush to death (R 1308). He sentenced the Defendant to two concurrent life imprisonment terms for his convictions of armed robbery and kidnapping. From this conviction and sentence, the Defendant, Bush, has appealed.

#### POINT I

WHERE THE STATE OFFERS EVIDENCE FROM AN INVESTIGATING OFFICER TOTALLY CON-TRADICTORY TO HIS TESTIMONY DURING PRE-TRIAL DISCOVERY AND THE DEFENDANT MOVES FOR A MISTRIAL BASED THEREON, THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL OR CONDUCT A RICHARDSON INQUIRY PRIOR TO ALLOWING THE EVIDENCE TO GO TO THE JURY.

The trial court erred in refusing to grant Defendant's Motion for Mistrial after a State investigating officer testified that a witness had identified the Defendant at her convenient store, when, during a discovery deposition, that same officer testified that the witness had not identified any of the Defendants in this case. The trial court further erred, after hearing the Motion for Mistrial, by failing to conduct a Richardson Inquiry as to the violation of discovery rules. Where it is brought to the attention of the trial court that a party has failed to comply with the criminal rules of discovery, the trial court must make adequate inquiry into the surrounding circumstances before determining whether noncompliance would result in harm or prejudice to the Defendant. Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971); Coffey v. State, 421 So.2d 49 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). Failure to conduct an inquiry requires reversal of the conviction. Cumbie v. State, 345 So.2d 1061 (Fla. 1977). In this case, the State revealed to the Defendant the existence of the witnesses, Charlotte Gray, and Detective John Forte. On July 22, 1982, the defense

-10-

took the deposition of Detective Forte (SR 1). At his deposition, Detective Forte testified that he had taken a statement from Charlotte Gray at the Little Saints store on State Road 76 (SR 1-5). The detective was then asked:

Question: "Okay, was a photo line up also conducted with Charlotte Gray?"

Answer: "Yes there was."

Question: "Okay, and was she able to make any identification of any of the Defendants?"

Answer: "No, Ma'am."

Later in the deposition, Detective Forte was asked the following questions: (SR 1-21)

Question: "And being the detective involved and having investigated the matter fully, do you have <u>any evidence</u> which would indicate that the individuals who came into Charlotte Gray's store are the same individuals who are charged with the murder of Frances Slater?" (Emphasis supplied.)

Answer: "No, I don't."

Again, Detective Forte was asked whether or not Charlotte Gray was shown any photographs. He responded affirmatively. Asked, "Was she able to identify any of the photographs?", he said "No". (SR 1-23)

On August 31, 1982, the deposition of Charlotte Gray was taken. In that deposition, Charlotte Gray again repeated essentially the same story that she told to Detective Forte. Gray did testify that she was able to identify one photograph (SR 2-13) but she did not know whether or not the man she identified was the taller individual or the shorter individual

-11-

in her store. Furthermore, she told Detective Forte that she was pretty sure regarding her identification, but she wouldn't stake her life on it (SR 2-31). The detectives also tried to make a composite drawing of those individuals, but she testified that they couldn't make one that would satisfy her (SR 2-16).

At trial, Mrs. Gray again testified with regard to the two gentlemen who entered her store on the night of the murder. When she was asked if anything unusual occurred, she stated that one of the men looked over into the register to see how much money she had in the drawer (R 484). The defense attorney objected on the grounds of relevancy and materiality, but the court overruled the objection (R 485). The defense attorney also elicited from Mrs. Gray that she had not been able to identify anyone in a live line up (R 491). On redirect, the State's attorney asked whether or not she had been able to identify anyone in a photo line up. She said, "For myself, yes." (R 493)

Then, the State called Detective Forte to the stand. Completely contrary to his deposition testimony, Detective Forte then testified that out of a twenty photograph line up, Mrs. Gray picked out one photograph--that of the Defendant, John Bush (R 507D). The defense attorney objected to the photos on the grounds of relevance and materiality. On cross-examination, the defense attorney went through the deposition of Detective Forte, pointing out several places

-12-

where he testified that she had not been able to identify any of the photographs (R 507K).

Immediately thereafter, the Defendant moved for a mistrial on the grounds of substantial surprise and based upon the serious discrepancy between Detective Forte's deposition testimony and his testimony at trial. The defense was totally mislead by Detective Forte to believe that Charlotte Gray had not identified any of the Defendants as being those individuals who peered into her cash register the night of the Slater murder (R 508-509). The court did not conduct a <u>Richardson</u> <u>Inquiry</u> as to why this information was withheld from the defense and the State gave no explanation. The court simply ruled that the inconsistencies in Detective Forte's testimony were a question for the jury to determine. Thus, he denied the motions (R 508-510).

However, during closing argument, the State exploited this testimony to show that Bush and his companions were out on a robbery spree in Martin County. The State went to considerable lengths during closing argument to establish that it was the Defendant in Charlotte Gray's store and that he went to the store to stake it out. The prosecutor specifically stated, "They went in there to stake it out. They created a reign of terror in Martin County that night and you can see it right here in this little area. Back and forth, stalking, looking for a convenience store to rob." (R 974)

-13-

Thus, the testimony of Charlotte Gray and the surprise identification of the Defendant through the photographs at trial was prejudicial to the defense's case. The Defendant's position was that he was not an active participant in the robbery--that he had only gone in to the convenience store where the victim worked to buy cigarettes. The testimony of Charlotte Gray and her identification of the Defendant placed the idea in the jury's mind that Bush was out to rob other convenience stores.

The State's Attorney's failure to notify the Defendant of the false testimony by the detective violated the prosecutor's continuing duty to disclose, pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220(f). A similar situation was presented in Neimeyer v. State, 378 So.2d 818 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). In that case, a pathologist testified on deposition that the victim could have been moving towards the defendant when the he was shot, thus supporting the defendant's claim of selfdefense. The night before the trial, the State Attorney told the defense counsel that the pathologist would say that the victim was paralyzed and could not move towards the defendant. The defense objected to the new testimony at trial but the trial court admitted it. On appeal, the court held that the State's failure to inform the defense of the new information until the evening of the trial was a violation of discovery obligations imposed on the State by Rule 3.220(f). A

-14-

<u>Richardson</u> <u>Inquiry</u> was needed and, since none was held, the court was required to reverse.

In the instant case, the State never informed the defense of the change in Forte's testimony: the defense first learned it when the surprise was sprung at trial. It is clear from the depositions and his testimony at trial that the detective was either lying or had forgotten. The fact of the identification was used by the State at trial, but the defense was mislead to believe there was no identification.

In <u>Cuciak v. State</u>, 410 So.2d 916 (Fla. 1982), this Court stated that the basic philosophy underlying discovery is the prevention of surprise and the implementation of an improved fact-finding process. <u>Cuciak</u>, supra, at 917. This Court also quoted, with approval, Judge Hurley's concurring opinion in <u>Cuciak v. State</u>, 394 So.2d at 505 (4th DCA):

> "Long ago we recognized that trial by ambush is so unfair as to be violative of due process."

This rule of law was completely abandoned by the State in this case. In its efforts to seek a conviction in this highly publicized case, the State appears to have deliberately mislead the defense on a key identification of the Defendant. Without this identification, the jury may well have believed that Bush was not the active participant in the robbery that the State pictured him to be.

Furthermore, Charlotte Gray's testimony was irrelevant and immaterial under Williams v. State, 117 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1960)

-15-

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