FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 29 1983

D J. WHITE

JOHN EARL BUSH,	QL _E	RK
Appellant,	\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\	4
v.	Case No. 62,9	947
STATE OF FLORIDA,	\{	
Appellee.		

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RUSSELL S. BOHN Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

for doing so is obvious. During the first interrogation (R 685-735) appellant had been tripped up several times regarding the time sequence of his story, and after the police took him up on his offer to travel to West Palm Beach to verify his alibi, he found that alibi falling apart around him. When he finally began to tell at least a portion of the truth, the record shows that he did so with full knowledge of his rights, and there is no basis for his argument that his second, third and fourth statements were not properly admitted.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING PHOTO-GRAPHS OF THE VICTIM.

Appellant argues that the trial judge erred in admitting photographs of the victim which were admitted primarily to inflame the jury. Appellee maintains that the photographs were properly admitted. Specifically, appellant centers his argument around the admission of state exhibits 15 and 21. However, the record will show that the defense objection to exhibit 15 at the time it was admitted (R 444-445) was not nearly as rigorous as the argument raised on appeal. Specifically, no claim was made that this photograph was more gruesome than the others, that another state exhibit could have served the same purpose, nor was exception made to the size of the photograph or to the fact that it was taken at the medical examiner's office rather than at the scene.

Further, before the admission of exhibit 21, the medical examiner had begun to testify about the external examination of the victim, and was asked whether exhibits 20 and 21 which were taken in his presence would aid him in illustrating to the jury what he observed during the medical examination. He testified that they would, and that they were true and accurate representations of what he saw at the time of the examination (F 463). Those exhibits were admitted on that basis, along with a cautionary instruction to the jury (R 464). Thus, appellee maintains that this issue mirrors that which was decided by this court in Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159, 1163 (Fla. 1981), where photographs of the victim's neckbones were admitted because they would aid the medical examiner in explaining the injuries of the victim

to the jury. The test of admissibility of photographs in situations such as this is relevancy and not necessity, and such photographs are admissible where they assist the medical examiner in explaining to the jury the nature and manner in which the wounds were inflicted. Welty, supra; Bauldree v. State, 284 So.2d 196, 197 (Fla. 1973).

Appellant's argument that the photographs were not relevant because there was no evidence that it was he who shot the victim is nothing more than a repetition of his own version of the events, which the jury was entitled to reject. Finally, appellant argues that the admission of the photographs was prosecutorial overkill. However, even where allegedlygruesome photographs have been admitted only to establish the identity of the victim despite a defense offer to stipulate to identity, appellate challenges to the admission of such photographs have failed. An example is Foster v. State, 369 So.2d 928, 930 (Fla. 1979), where this court held that a defendant cannot, by stipulating to the identity of a victim and the cause of death, relieve the state of its burden to prove those elements beyond a reasonable doubt. Thus, appellee respectfully maintains that there was no error in the admission of the photographs in this case.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING PRO-SPECTIVE JUROR REID ON A CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE.

Appellant argues that the trial judge violated the teachings of Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510 (1968) when he granted the state's challenge for cause and excluded prospective juror Patricia Reid. However, the lack of an objection in the trial court is fatal to his argument. See Maggard v. State, 399 So.2d 973, 975 (Fla. 1981).

Furthermore, appellant's argument has no merit on its In response to the prosecutor's questions, Mrs. Reid merits. first stated that she did not know if she could handle the responsibility of committing someone to death, and then stated that her feeling about the possibility of a death sentence would cause her to feel uneasy about weighing the evidence of guilt or innocence in the first stage of the trial (R 51-52). Defense counsel asked whether she could set aside her feelings of sympathy and base her decision in the guilt or innocence phase of the trial on the law and the evidence, and she flatly stated "no," adding that she did not think in her heart that she "could live with sending somebody to an electric chair." (R 55-56). In response to further questions by defense counsel regarding whether she could put sympathy out of her mind and base her verdict on the law and the evidence Mrs. Reid responded, "No, I don't think so." (R 56-57). At that point, the state's challenge was sustained without objection. Appellee maintains that Mrs. Reid's answers demonstrate unmistakably that her attitude toward the death penalty would prevent her from making an impartial decision regarding appellant's

guilt. Appellant argues that "it is difficult to ascertain from the questioning" whether Mrs. Reid's answers were due to her feeling about the death penalty or simply due to general feelings of sympathy. This argument simply ignores Mrs. Reid's responses to both attorneys, which were interlaced with references to her inability to "live with sending somebody to an electric chair." Thus, appellee maintains that there was no error in excluding this prospective juror. See Jackson v. State, 366 So.2d 752, 754-755 n.2 (Fla. 1978).

POINT V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO REQUIRE THE STATE TO DISCLOSE WHETHER THE PROSECUTION WAS PROCEEDING UNDER THE THEORY OF FELONY MURDER OR PREMEDITATED MURDER.

In his pretrial motion for a statement of particulars (R 1398-1400), appellant requested that the state be required to inform him whether the case would be tried under a theory of felony murder or premeditated murder or both, since the indictment on its face did not reveal the theory under which the state intended to proceed and that such information would enable him to be better prepared to adequately and effectively prepare his defense. In a pretrial hearing, this request was denied (R 1091-1094). Appellant now alleges this as an error because he claims that he "did not, in fact, commit the actual murder."

Appellee will rely upon the prior disposition of this issue by this court in Knight v. State, 338 So.2d 201, 204 (Fla. 1976) and State v. Pinder, 375 So.2d 836, 839 (Fla. 1979).

More specifically, in both cases this court quoted the opinion authored by Justice Adkins in Barton v. State, 193 So.2d 618, 624 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1967), where the defendant also argued "that he should have been furnished with a bill of particulars specifying whether the State would proceed on the theory of felony murder or premeditated murder," claiming as does appellant in the instant case that without that information he was placed "at a burdensome disadvantage by being forced to

prepare defenses to each," and that "such a burden upon him constituted a denial of due process." <u>Id</u>. That argument was rejected in the <u>Barton</u> case, and appellee maintains that nothing in this case mandates any different disposition. To this appellee will only add the following statement recently made by this court in <u>O'Callaghan v. State</u>, 429 So.2d 691, 695 (Fla. 1983):

Appellant, because of our reciprocal discovery rules, had full knowledge of both the charges and the evidence that the state would submit at trial. This is much more information than he would have received in almost any other jurisdiction, federal or state. We conclude that appellant was not prejudiced by the manner in which he was charged in the indictment or by the instructions given to the jury on the crime as charged in the indictment.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO GIVE APPELLANT'S REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION ON THIRD DEGREE MURDER.

Appellant requested an instruction on third degree murder (R 1625), which request was denied during the charge conference (R 934-935). Although this point has been preserved for review, see Thomas v. State, 419 So.2d 634, 636 (Fla. 1982), it presents no basis for reversible error in this case.

An instruction on third degree murder is not required unless there is evidence to support it. See Williams v. State, 427 So. 2d 775, 776 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983). Appellant argues that if the jury accepted his version of the facts, they could have found him guilty of aggravated battery by stabbing the victim, and that since that act facilitated theultimate death of the victim, the killing occurred in the course of the aggravated battery which would in turn constitute third degree murder under § 782.04(4), Fla. Stat. (1981). Appellee submits that appellant is factually incorrect, and that his reliance on Johnson v. State, 423 So. 2d 614 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) is misplaced. In Johnson, the victim died as the result of the defendant's repeated hitting and kicking, so that the death in that case was caused by the same act which constituted an aggravated battery. Not so in the instant case, where the stabbing did not cause the death, but (accepting appellant's version of the facts) facilitated the premeditated shooting of which followed, and the victim /which was clearly first degree murder. pellant's version of the facts would not support a charge of third degree murder, but would establish guilt as an aider and abettor to first degree murder. Since the evidence would not

have supported a charge of third degree murder, there was no error in denying the instruction.

Of course, even if there was error in denying the instruction, such error was harmless. Lesser degrees are now treated in the same way as lesser included offenses under the former categories 3 and 4 explained in Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1968). See In Re Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, Nos. 56,734 & 58,799 (Fla. April 16, 1981). Since appellant was charged with and convicted of first degree murder, the denial of a third degree murder instruction which is two steps removed from the convicted offense is, if error, harmless. See State v. Abreau, 363 So.2d 1063, 1064 (Fla. 1978).

POINT VII

THE FLORIDA CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

Appellant presents a laundry list of complaints about the Florida capital sentencing statute in summary fashion, and appellee will respond to each argument in kind.

First, appellant's complaint that the capital sentencing scheme fails to provide adequate notice of aggravating circumstances upon which the state intends to rely has been rejected by this court. See Tafero v. State, 403 So.2d 355, 361 (Fla. 1981). Second, appellant complains that the statute fails to provide any standard of proof for determining that aggravating circumstances outweigh mitigating circumstances. This argument was rejected by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals in Ford v. Strickland, 696 F.2d 804, 817-818 (11th Cir. 1983). Moreover, in Zant v. Stephens, ___ U.S. ___, 77 L.Ed.2d 235, 247-251 (1983), the United States Supreme Court determined that the absence of a legislative or court-imposed standard to govern the jury in weighing aggravating circumstances did not render the Georgia statute invalid as applied in that case, and appellee maintains that the same conclusion applies in this case based on the reasoning espoused in Zant.

Third, appellant claims that aggravating circumstances in the Florida capital sentencing statute have been applied in a vague and inconsistent manner. Appellee finds that charge itself to be vague, and in any event to be without merit since

this court has recognized and carried out its duty to make a proportionality determination and decide how a given case compares with other cases. See, e.g., Williams v. State, So.2d ____, Case No. 61,549 (Fla. opinion filed June 23, 1983) [8 FLW 211]. Fourth, execution by electrocution is not cruel and unusual punishment. See Spinkellink v. Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582, 616 (5th Cir. 1978). Fifth, while appellant alleges that because the Florida statute does not require a unanimous jury or a "substantial" majority of the jury in order to reach an advisory verdict, the statute denies the right to a jury and due process of law. However, in Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976), the United States Supreme Court pointed out that jury sentencing is not constitutionally required. Finally, appellant alleges that the statute is constitutionally infirm because this court does not automatically review all first degree murder cases, but reviews only those first degree murder cases which result in a death sentence, and not those which result in a term of life imprisonment. Appellant's claim of arbitrariness on this basis was rejected by the United States Supreme Court in Proffitt v. Florida, supra, at 259 n.16.

POINT VIII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY DURING THE PENALTY PHASE.

Appellant attempts to challenge the instructions to the jury during the penalty phase in this case based upon the reversal in Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521, 524-525 (Fla. 1982), where this court held that it was error to deliver an "Allen charge" during the penalty phase of the trial. Of course, appellee maintains that this point has not been preserved for review since there was no objection to the instructions as they were delivered by the trial judge. See Thomas v. State, 419 So.2d 634, 636 (Fla. 1982); Williams v. State, 395 So.2d 1236, 1237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

Even if preserved, the issue posed here presents no error. Rose is entirely distinguishable from the instant case, since no "Allen charge" was delivered during the penalty phase of this trial. Furthermore, as this court pointed out in Rose, "if seven jurors do not vote to recommend death, then the recommendation is life imprisonment." Id. at 525. Here, the judge instructed the jury that "if by six or more votes the jury determines that John Earl Bush should not be sentenced to death, your advisory sentence will be the jury advises and recommends to the court that it impose a sentence of life imprisonment upon John Earl Bush without possibility of parole for twenty-five years." (R 1290). Thus, the instruction given to the jury here said precisely what this court said in Rose.

See Hitchcock v. State, 432 So.2d 42, 44 n.3 (Fla. 1983).

POINT IX

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY IN THE SENTENCING PHASE THAT APPELLANT COULD NOT BE SENTENCED TO DEATH UNLESS IT WAS FOUND THAT HE KILLED OR ATTEMPTED TO KILL THE VICTIM OR INTENDED OR CONTEMPLATED THAT LIFE WOULD BE TAKEN.

Appellant argues that the trial judge should have instructed the jury during the sentencing phase that he could not be sentenced to death unless he killed or attempted to kill the victim, or intended or contemplated that life would be taken, pursuant to the holding of the case of Enmund v. Florida, U.S., 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982). It should be noted that Enmund was decided on July 2, 1982, 73 L.Ed.2d at 1140. The sentencing proceeding in the instant case took place on November 22, 1982 (R 1124). Thus, if defense counsel felt that Enmund applied to the instant case, he should have requested an appropriate instruction. However, none was requested, thus precluding this issue from review on appeal. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.390(d); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 703-704(Fla. 1978); Williams v. State, 395 So.2d 1236, 1237 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

Furthermore, defense counsel had every reason not to request such an instruction, for the Enmund rule has no application in this case. The evidence showed that appellant owned and drove the car, owned the gun, and admitted stabbing the victim (R 548, 767-768, 771, 812). It can hardly be argued

that the evidence in this case would justify an instruction that appellant neither killed nor attempted to kill the victim nor intended or contemplated that life would be taken. His was not the kind of passive participation which inculpated defendant Enmund, who this court stated was only "constructively present aiding and abetting the commission of the crime...."

See Enmund v. State, 399 So.2d 1362, 1370 (Fla. 1981). Thus, appellant's complaint here has not been preserved for appeal, presents no error much less fundamental error, and is without merit. See Hall v. State, 420 So.2d 872, 874 (Fla. 1982).

POINT X

THE EXECUTION OF APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE WOULD NOT DEPRIVE HIM OF LIFE WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

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